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Oral History of 

CHIEF JUSTICE PHIL S. GIBSON

INTRODUCTION

J O S E P H  R .  G R O D I N *

When I first saw the chief justice’s chambers at the California Su-
preme Court, someone — it may have been Chief Justice Bird — 

pointed to an indentation in the ceiling tile and said it was caused by the 
cork from a champagne bottle opened by Chief Justice Phil Gibson, then 
age 70, in celebration of the birth of his son Blaine. Somehow that image 
captured for me the spirit of a man whom I had come to admire and re-
spect — a spirit that combined enormous dedication and gravitas with a 
perennial youthfulness and ebullience and (the consumption of alcoholic 
beverages inside the State Building being a bit questionable) just a touch of 
irreverence.

Phil Gibson was appointed to the Supreme Court by Governor Olson 
in 1939. I think it is fair to say that his appointment, along with that of Jesse 
Carter earlier in the year and of Roger Traynor the year following, marked 
the transformation of the California Supreme Court from mediocrity to 
excellence, and its emergence as one of the preeminent courts in the na-
tion. In large part this was the product of what turned out to be Gibson’s 
genius for judicial administration, and his extraordinary accomplishments 
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in that arena, from structural reform to procedures for judicial account-
ability, are understandably the primary focus of the oral history that follows. 

Such attention as is typically paid to Gibson’s contributions as a ju-
dicial administrator, however, tends to obscure his contributions to the 
substance of legal development as a legal scholar, and that tendency is en-
hanced by the shadow of legal giants like Roger Traynor, Mathew Tobriner 
and Stanley Mosk who came to serve with him on the Court, and to whom, 
through the assignment of cases, he often deferred. And so it is that in the 
oral history which follows, the opinions that Gibson wrote are relegated to 
a single footnote, whereas in fact, the opinions of the Gibson court — in 
the forefront of judicial response to changing conditions in the nation and 
in the world — are of at least equal significance to judicial reform in the 
Court’s emerging preeminence. Gibson’s own contributions to those devel-
opments, especially in the area of civil rights, deserve greater recognition 
than they have received.

In his oral history, Gibson is quoted as saying that he considered an 
opinion holding that unions could not discriminate against blacks to be 
the most important case he wrote. The case, James v. Marinship Corp.,1 

was brought by black boilermakers against their union and their employer, 
a shipbuilding company in Marin County. World War II was underway, 
and, skilled workers being scarce, the black boilermakers, imported from 
the South, were badly needed. Their presence, however, created a problem 
for the boilermakers’ union. The union had a closed shop agreement with 
Marinship, requiring that all workers be union members, but at the same 
time it was the union’s policy not to admit blacks as members. And yet 
the union did not want to be seen as obstructing the war effort, nor was it 
anxious to forego additional dues revenue. The union solved this dilemma 
by establishing an “auxiliary” union that blacks could (and were forced to) 
join, and pay dues, but without any voice in policy formulation or selection 
of officers who, as a matter of federal law, were supposed to represent all the 
members of the boilermakers’ bargaining unit. 

The response of the black boilermakers, represented by the NAACP 
and its lead counsel, Thurgood Marshall, along with local lawyers, was to 
sue both the union and Marinship. For the Court it must have seemed a 

1   25 Cal.2d 721 (1944).
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politically sensitive case, since labor unions had been among the strongest 
supporters of the Olson administration, but as Justice Stanley Mosk put 
it in his memorial tribute at the Supreme Court, for Gibson there were 
no “sacred cows.”2 In terms of his own values, and the emerging values 
of society, the answer must have been clear. But what about the law? This 
was 1944. The federal Civil Rights Act was still twenty years away. The 
union’s duty of fair representation under federal law had yet to be firmly 
established. Neither the federal nor state constitutions applied to conduct 
by private actors. And, as the union argued vehemently in its brief, labor 
unions were private associations, free to establish their own qualifications 
for membership without judicial interference. 

The easy answer, the course of least resistance, would have been for the 
Court to deny relief, invoking principles of judicial constraint. Any other 
answer would require judicial activism, would it not? 

Gibson’s answer — one that went beyond the theories advanced in the 
briefs — was solidly grounded in the common law. A union, he observed, 
is like a public utility, exercising a sort of monopoly, de facto if not de jure, 
in the representation of workers. In that respect it was like the keeper of a 
remote inn, or the provider of a scarce service, who at common law had the 
duty to serve all without arbitrary discrimination. A union might main-
tain a closed shop, requiring union membership as a condition of employ-
ment, and it might maintain a closed union, excluding those whom it did 
not care to admit to membership, but to maintain a closed shop and an 
arbitrarily closed union at the same time violated the union’s common law 
obligations. 

The idea that a union may not exclude persons on the basis of race, 
or relegate them to a separate (and decidedly unequal) membership sta-
tus, no longer strikes us as remarkable, but at the time it represented a 
huge advance in legal doctrine. As applied to unions, Gibson’s reasoning 
came soon to be accepted as part of federal labor law, but the implications 
of the reasoning were broader, and reverberated throughout the common 
law. What is now known as the doctrine of “common law due process” 
— the doctrine that an organization or entity that controls access to a 
business or occupation must exercise that control through fair procedures 

2   Stanley Mosk, Phil Gibson — A Remembrance, 72 Cal. L. Rev. 506, 508 (1984).
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and non-arbitrary standards — has been applied not only to unions but to 
professional societies and insurance companies as well.3 Gibson’s pride in 
Marinship is understandable, and justified.

Equally significant was Gibson’s opposition to California’s sad history 
of discrimination against persons of Japanese descent, reflected in laws 
prohibiting the issuance of commercial fishing licenses, and the ownership 
of property, by aliens ineligible for citizenship under federal law. These 
laws came to be challenged before the California Supreme Court in the 
years following the end of World War II. In Takahashi v. California Fish 
& Game Commission,4 a majority of the Court, in an opinion by Justice 
Edmonds (who was Governor Olson’s fourth appointee) upheld the fishing 
prohibition against equal protection challenge. Gibson joined Carter and 
Traynor in a strong dissent, and their position was vindicated when the 
U.S. Supreme Court reversed.5 

When the alien land law came before the California Court a few years 
later, in Sei Fujii v. State of California,6 Edmonds switched to join the prior 
dissenters in an opinion by Gibson holding the law unconstitutional. The 
plaintiff was about to lose ownership of land which he had purchased after 
World War II, pursuant to the decision of the trial court based on the pro-
visions of the Alien Land Law which provided for escheat to the state. But 
Gibson’s court reversed. The opinion began by rejecting plaintiff’s argu-
ment that the Alien Land Law offended the United Nations Charter, rea-
soning that while the Charter was a treaty, its terms were not self-executing, 
and so the opinion went on to consider plaintiff’s argument that the law vi-
olated the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. Gibson 
had no difficulty concluding that the Alien Land Law, by incorporating 
the federal standards for citizenship eligibility, had both the purpose and 
effect of discriminating on the basis of race, but there was a problem: the 
U.S. Supreme Court which had sustained similar land ownership restric-
tions against equal protection challenge on the basis that such restrictions 
were “reasonable” in light of a state interest in confining land ownership to 

3   See Matthew [sic] O. Tobriner and Joseph R. Grodin, The Individual and the Pub-
lic Service Enterprise in the New Industrial State, 55 Cal. L. Rev. 1247 (1967).

4   30 Cal.2d 719 (1947).
5   Takahashi v. California Fish & Game Commission, 334 U.S. 416 (1948).
6   38 Cal.2d 718 (1952).
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persons who had a stake in the national polity. Gibson and his liberal col-
leagues found the law unconstitutional notwithstanding those opinions, 
on the ground that the principles on which those cases were decided had 
been undercut by subsequent decisions, including Takahashi. The three 
dissenters attacked the majority’s reasoning on the familiar ground that it 
represented personal preference rather than the law, but the U.S. Supreme 
Court denied certiorari, implying under the circumstances, that Gibson 
and his colleagues were right, as indeed they were.

It is worth recalling, in light of the currently fashionable emphasis on 
prior judicial experience as a qualification for appointment, that Phil Gib-
son had never served as a judge when Governor Olson put him on the 
high court. He had served as director of Finance in the Olson government, 
and before that as a successful corporate lawyer representing entities in the 
movie industry. Underlying those experiences were a creative intellect, a 
keen appreciation of human nature, a personality which projected warmth 
and integrity, and an unwavering commitment to social justice. Governors 
looking for criteria to guide judicial appointments could do a lot worse.

*  *  *
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INTERV IEW HISTORY 1 

The Regional Oral History Office sought to interview the Honorable 
Phil S. Gibson for the Knight-Brown Era Oral History Project with 

some trepidation, due to a layman’s hesitation about imposing on the dig-
nity of the state Supreme Court and because we had heard that he preferred 
not to be disturbed in his retirement. Although he pleaded ignorance of 
politics due to his years on the bench, Chief Justice Gibson was cordial in 
inviting the interviewer to his home to discuss general observations on his 
years in state service (1939–1964). 

Age 88 at the time of the interview (May 12, 1977), Gibson was of 
medium height and build, white-haired, and well-tailored. Seated in his 
pleasant living room overlooking the Carmel Valley, he chatted a while to 
test the interviewer’s questions and intent and then agreed to record some 
of his personal recollections of California governors from Frank Merriam 
to Jerry Brown. 

What emerges is an informal portrait of a man who was appointed to 
what many feel is the number two spot in state government, director of Fi-
nance, after brief and almost casual acquaintance with Governor Culbert 
Olson, who shortly thereafter appointed him an associate justice and then 
chief justice of the state Supreme Court. With remarkable objectivity, Gib-
son skips over highly political events, mentioning instead lasting adminis-
trative reforms he introduced, based on his business and legal experience. 

During the 1950s and ’60s, Gibson’s insistence on improvements in 
procedures for judicial qualifications review, assignment of judges, and 
getting cases through the courts are credited by knowledgeable observers 
with setting standards for the nation. They may, indeed, have provided 
guidelines later followed by fellow Californian Earl Warren as chief justice 
for the U.S. Supreme Court. 

1   Editor’s Note: The oral history is printed by permission of The Bancroft Library at 
UC Berkeley. It is presented here in its entirety, and it has been reedited for publication. 
The original transcript is a portion of “Governmental History Documentation Project : 
Goodwin Knight / Edmund Brown, Sr. Era : California Constitutional Officers : Phil 
S. Gibson, ‘Recollections of a Chief Justice of the California Supreme Court,’ an Inter-
view Conducted by Gabrielle Morris in 1977: oral history transcript and related mate-
rial, 1977–1980” and may be viewed at the Library or online at http://www.archive.org/ 
details/caliconstitutoff00morrrich. 

http://www.archive.org/details/caliconstitutoff00morrrich
http://www.archive.org/details/caliconstitutoff00morrrich
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In the interview Gibson also refers briefly to the close working rela-
tionship between attorneys general and chief justices and acknowledges 
that upon occasion governors confer with a chief justice about judicial ap-
pointments. There must be many occasions on which those seeking to gov-
ern well would seek the benefit of the experience and wisdom of the state’s 
highest court. 

The interview concludes with useful brief summaries of governors 
Gibson has known. Although the fullest comments are on Culbert Olson 
and Pat Brown, there are also useful insights on Earl Warren and Goodwin 
Knight. It is hoped that at a later date Chief Justice Gibson will discuss 
some cases of importance that came before the Supreme Court in his day. 

	 —  G A B R I E L L E  M O R R I S ,  I N T E R V I E W E R

	 Regional Oral History Office, July 15, 1977 
	 The Bancroft Library 
	 University of California, Berkeley 
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FROM MISSOURI TO LOS ANGELES 

Morris: I was asking why you decided to come to California and how 
you got interested in government and public service. 

Gibson: Do you want a little background? 

Morris: Yes, please. 

Gibson: I was born in Grant City, Missouri, a small town, 1,400 people in 
the northwestern part of the state near St. Joe. My father was a lawyer. He 
was born in Indiana, served in the Union army in the Civil War, came to 
Missouri from Indiana, had a small newspaper. He had a good education. 
He was educated in Indiana. He had six daughters by his first wife. She 
died. He married my mother while some of those girls in his first family 
were still in the house. My mother brought up some of them and then she 
had five children, three boys and two girls. 

Morris: Was your mother also a Missouri girl born and raised? 

Gibson: Well, she was born in Missouri, but her childhood after the Civil 
War was spent in Mississippi. She came back to Missouri. She had little 
education, very little. She educated herself. My father was supposed to be 
a rather prominent man in that area; I think she was smarter than he was. 

Morris: How did she go about educating herself? 

Gibson: Reading. 

Morris: Would she help him with the newspaper at all? 

Gibson: No, he didn’t have the newspaper then. I think he owned part 
of it, but he never had anything to do with it. He had a farm, and the law 
office — quite successful. His three boys all graduated from the University 
of Missouri, myself and my two brothers. 

Morris: Were you the oldest? 

Gibson: No. The oldest became a lawyer and a very successful one. My 
younger brother, Blaine, studied journalism, became a newspaperman. He 
was the editor of the Pasadena paper when he died. He died quite young of 
Hodgkin’s disease. He died in his early 30s. Our son, Blaine, now 20, who 
is a student at the University of Bordeaux, is named after my brother. 

Morris: He accomplished a lot in that short time. 
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Gibson: Yes, he did, a great deal. I graduated from the University of Mis-
souri in 1914. I went to my home town and ran for prosecuting attorney, 
and was elected. 

Morris: Before you’d been to law school? 

Gibson: No, just after I graduated from law school. Then the war came. 
I went to the first officer’s training camp and was kicked out because I 
couldn’t pass the physical examination. I enlisted in the National Guard in 
Kansas City, the same outfit as Harry Truman. 

Morris: I was thinking about that driving down. It really was the same 
unit? 

Gibson: Yes. 

Morris: That’s marvelous. 

Gibson: Except he was in the artillery and I was in the infantry. I saw 
very little of him. Of course, I was soon commissioned and sent to France. 
I served for a time with the British, and then was returned to my old outfit. 

It was the old 35th Division that Truman was in; but I didn’t see much 
of him. Saw him a time or two. One of my schoolmates at the University 
of Missouri was Bennett Clark, the son of Champ Clark who had a great 
deal to do with Harry Truman’s political career. Another one was Tuck 
Milligan, Jacob Milligan nicknamed Tuck, who also had a great deal to 
do with Truman’s political career. Both of them served in France in the 
35th Division; Milligan was a congressman and ran against Truman in the 
Democratic primary nomination for senator. Truman beat him. Clark was 
then a senator. 

Morris: Yes, and early in the century hadn’t he been a candidate for the 
Democratic presidential nomination? 

Gibson: His father had, Champ. 

Morris: Champ was who I was thinking of.

Gibson: Champ Clark ran against Wilson. Bryan helped Wilson at a critical 
point or Champ Clark would have probably been nominated. Charles Evans 
Hughes won the Republican nomination, but he was defeated because he 
didn’t carry California. He didn’t carry California because Hiram Johnson 
didn’t give him the support that he should have. Wilson was elected. 
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You were asking me about how I got to California. After the war I went 
to school in England. I hadn’t been discharged. I went to the Inns of Court, 
which is a great law school; I was still in uniform. When I was discharged I 
came back to this country. I was physically not able to practice law so I got a 
homestead in Wyoming. I lived for two years on the Wyoming homestead. 

Morris: That must have been pretty rugged.

Gibson: Well, not too much so. There were lots of us, mostly soldiers with 
tuberculosis. It wasn’t rugged, no. Not too much so. 

Morris: Had you picked up tuberculosis serving overseas? 

Gibson: Probably. When I was sufficiently recovered to work again, my 
brother who was editor of a paper in Los Angeles County, my younger 
brother, urged me to come to Los Angeles and that’s how I got to Cali-
fornia. I was admitted to practice in California and started practicing in 
February 1923, as I remember it. 

Morris: How complicated was it to be admitted to the bar in California? 

Gibson: Not then. Not with my background. 

Morris: I would think that was pretty distinguished. 

Gibson: With the army service and everything, we got a break, of formal 
examination. It didn’t amount to much. I passed a sort . . . 

Morris: Was there a set time of year at which everybody who wanted to 
be admitted took the exam? 

Gibson: I don’t think so for a person who had been admitted to practice 
in another state. I started practicing in Los Angeles. Those were boom days 
in Los Angeles. 

Morris: Was there a shortage of lawyers? 

Gibson: Well, Los Angeles was booming. I don’t know if there was a 
shortage of lawyers, but the city was growing very fast, the moving pictures 
were in their prime, and very soon I was representing people in the moving 
picture business. 

Morris: That must have been interesting. 

Gibson: I lived in Beverly Hills and knew many of those interesting peo-
ple. My wife and I didn’t go out socially. She wasn’t real well and I didn’t 
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want too many social contacts. Of course, it doesn’t always help to know all 
your business contacts socially. 

Morris: It does not help? 

Gibson: Sometimes it’s better not to. I did not represent many of the ac-
tors. I represented the companies. 

Morris: In corporate law? 

Gibson: Yes, mostly. 

Morris: The business end of things. 

Gibson: Yes. 

GOVER NOR CULBERT OLSON’S ELECTION  
AND ADMINISTR ATION 

Gibson: I met Olson in the early ’30s and I liked him. I found him a very 
fine person to work with, a very able man. I liked his record in the Senate, 
the state Senate. 

When he decided to run for governor, for the nomination, there were 
several very important men seeking the nomination: O’Connor, who af-
terwards became a federal judge, a great friend of Roosevelt’s, wanted the 
nomination, and two or three other prominent men. I thought Olson was 
the best candidate. At that time I was not a registered Democrat. I think 
at that time I probably was registered declined to state. I had run on the 
Republican ticket when I was elected prosecuting attorney in Missouri, but 
I hadn’t taken any active part in politics in California. 

I made a contribution to Olson’s campaign. He found out about my con-
tribution and he called me and asked me to meet with some people in his of-
fice. I told him, “They promised me that I wouldn’t be bothered if I made this 
contribution,” and he said, “Well, just this once.” So I went over. The question 
was whether he should address a group in Pasadena that was pretty far to 
the left. I said, “Hell, they’re your friends, aren’t they?” He said, “Yes.” I said, 
“Well, stay with them.” Some of the people there were advising against it. 

But anyhow he asked me if he could walk back to the office with me. He 
said, “I’m looking for a headquarters, and I know you represent several of 
the buildings downtown. Would you find me a place for a headquarters?” 
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I said, “It will cost you too much money. You can’t afford the rents 
downtown.” I went back up to my office and I thought about the basement 
of the Loew’s State Building. It had been occupied by a cafeteria, a very 
successful one. These were pretty hard times and it had gone broke and the 
place was empty. A lovely place at the corner of Seventh and Broadway. I 
called Loew’s real estate man in New York. 

He said, “Hell, yes. Rent it to him. Louis Mayer will have fits.” Louis 
Mayer was then president of Metro-Goldwyn-Mayer and a great Republi-
can and very active in support of the Republican candidates. 

Morris: Did you work out a rental that the Olson campaign could afford 
to pay? 

Gibson: Sure, sure. The cafeteria room had been empty for quite some 
time. Olson’s headquarters attracted a lot of people there and that was 
business for the building. 

Morris: So did you continue to sit in on these discussions? 

Gibson: No. I had very little connection with the campaign after that. 
Then after Olson was nominated, I attended a couple of meetings with just 
a few people from the moving picture industry that were supporting Olson. 

Morris: Who would that have been? 

Gibson: Well, Joe Schenck was one of his leading supporters. 

Morris: On your recommendation? 

Gibson: No, I think Joe always acted on his own; a pretty able fellow, you 
know. 

Morris: Yes, to start a motion picture business and keep it going. 

Gibson: Joe’s brother, Nicholas M. Schenck, was one of the most powerful 
men in the moving picture business. 

Morris: Did you and Mr. Olson talk about his ideas about government 
at all? 

Gibson: No. I didn’t discuss those things with him. He had ideas of his 
own and frankly I wasn’t in politics. He asked me to dinner at his house 
just a few days after he was elected. He asked me if I would go to Sacra-
mento with him to help him with his budget. In those days, and it’s still 
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to a certain extent true, a governor has to find out something about what 
he’s going to do when he gets into office as far as his first year’s budget is 
concerned. 

Morris: Because the budget is presented right after he’s sworn in? 

Gibson: That’s right. So I went to Sacramento with him. Went with him 
and helped him with his budget. When that was done, I went back to my 
office in Los Angeles. Nothing was said about any political appointment at 
all. I wasn’t looking for one. 

DIRECTOR OF THE STATE DEPARTMENT  
OF FINANCE, 1938–1939 

Gibson: A few days after I got back, he called me and asked me if I would 
like to be director of Finance. I said, “I don’t know that I’m qualified. I 
don’t know anything about state politics.” At that time I thought he was 
going to appoint Dewey Anderson. Did you ever hear of Dewey? 

Morris: Read his book?

Gibson: Burke’s book. I haven’t read Anderson’s book, but a man named 
Burke has written a book called “Olson’s New Deal in California” — doc-
toral thesis. It was a . . . 

Morris: He mentions that Dewey Anderson was the person that was ex-
pected to be director of Finance. Dewey Anderson also wrote a book? I 
have . . .  

Gibson: Oh, yes. He died just a short time ago. 

Morris: Just a year or so ago, yes. 

Gibson: Dewey had a lot of ability but he did not always have good judg-
ment in political matters. 

Morris: I understand that he did help Governor Olson develop position 
papers on social issues and that kind of stuff. 

Gibson: Oh, I’m sure of that, yes. He wanted to be director of Finance. 
Olson may have let him think he’d get it. So when I was appointed, Dewey 
was very upset. The governor gave Dewey the job of handling all of the 
relief set-up in the state; what did they call it then? 
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Morris: They called it the State Relief Administration. 

Gibson: SRA? 

Morris: Right. 

Gibson: While working at that Dewey got in trouble with the commu-
nists, who were trying to run the Olson administration and were not suc-
ceeding. 

Morris: Was it that communists got to Mr. Anderson or that there were 
just some who got hired? 

Gibson: There were some that were hired in that relief set-up that caused 
Anderson and the governor a lot of trouble. I don’t know exactly the basis 
of the Anderson-Olson split. I don’t know what was at the bottom of their 
differences. I got along with Dewey very well when I was director of Fi-
nance, even though he thought he should have had the job instead of me. 
I expect he was right. 

Morris: The Relief Administration was a knottier problem than the De-
partment of Finance at that time, am I right? 

Gibson: From a public standpoint. Of course, at that time the director of 
Finance next to the governor was the most powerful position in the state. 
At that time it had responsibilities that are now encompassed in a half a 
dozen departments. It was a very powerful position. 

Morris: Were those things that later became separate departments al-
ready too unwieldy? 

Gibson: Oh, I think some of them were. 

Morris: So what you’re saying is that your appointment as director of 
Finance was announced before Dewey Anderson’s job as head of the SRA? 
You were the first appointment announced? 

Gibson: I expect that I was. I don’t remember, but I think that my ap-
pointment was announced before Dewey’s. I know Dewey thought he was 
going to get it. He was rather upset about it, but I told him that I wasn’t go-
ing to be around there very long and that he would probably step into my 
shoes when I left. I had told the governor I could not stay in the job more 
than six months. 
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Morris: I see. How come? 

Gibson: I wanted to get back to my law practice. I didn’t like being away 
from my wife, who stayed in Beverly Hills, and I didn’t really want the job. 

Morris: Then why did you say yes? 

Gibson: Well, I was weak, I guess. Olson had a way of convincing his 
friends. I thought I might learn something, too. Some people said that 
I took the job because I wanted a judicial appointment. That’s not true. 
Dewey Anderson has that in his book. I was not looking for a judicial ap-
pointment. If there hadn’t been a couple of deaths on the Supreme Court 
right at that time, I probably never would have gotten one. 

Morris: What kinds of things did you think as a practicing attorney that 
you might learn in running the Department of Finance? 

Gibson: Business experience on a large scale. 

Morris: How much is there that the director has to know of actual finan-
cial things ? 

Gibson: Of course, I’d had quite a bit of experience with the business 
side of law practice. After all, I couldn’t work with the people high in the 
motion picture business at that time without knowing something about 
business. I quit trial work entirely in my last years of practice. I refused to 
take any trial cases. Business law occupied all my time. 

Morris: How much of the actual detail work of the Department of Fi-
nance was handled by the career civil servants? 

Gibson: We had splendid people there. I could not have done the job 
without their help. They were able and loyal. 

The director of Finance handled certain investments, and when I first 
went in as director of Finance, half the people outside waiting to see me 
were bond salesmen. I called up the University of California and I asked 
for the man in charge of their investments, if I could get a man to take over 
this work. They gave me the name of a fellow, and so, working with the 
Personnel Board, the governor, and the Legislature, I set up the job. 

Morris: A separate person to handle the investments? 

Gibson: Yes. 
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Morris: That’s interesting. And you got him from the university? 

Gibson: I’ve forgotten his name. He was recommended by the people 
handling the investments for the university and we got that job out of poli-
tics entirely. 

Morris: That sounds like you’d need a real professional in that job. 

Gibson: Yes, I wasn’t qualified to do it and probably none of my predeces-
sors were qualified to do it. 

Morris: The business of investment of state funds, this is always a tricky 
one, isn’t it? 

Gibson: Well, you have to know something about the business. I didn’t 
and I didn’t want to be bothered with the horde of people pressing all the 
time. There were millions of dollars there to be invested. Those were pretty 
lean years. They were all hungry for business. 

Morris: When you were working with Mr. Olson on that first budget 
after he was elected governor, was it a surprise that there was more of a 
deficit than was expected? 

Gibson: Oh, I don’t know. I really don’t remember much about it. 

Morris: I was thinking of your comment about “Those were lean years.” 

Gibson: Yes, they were. 

Morris: You were saying, “Those were lean years” in the economy when 
you and Olson went to Sacramento. 

Gibson: Sure. You had the Great Depression in the ’30s. In the last years 
of the ’30s and early ’40s things were pretty tough. The war came in the 
early ’40s and it changed the whole picture. 

Morris: One of the things that Mr. Olson had the most trouble with was 
getting the Legislature to approve money for that State Relief Administra-
tion, wasn’t it? 

Gibson: Yes, he had trouble with the legislature on nearly everything be-
cause they didn’t like Olson and the things that Olson was proposing in 
California. All of them have since become part of our government, but 
Olson was far ahead of his time, way ahead of his time. 

Morris: But they had liked him when he was a state senator, hadn’t they? 
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Gibson: Not all of them. [Chuckles.] Just one group liked him; the lib-
erals liked him. I don’t think the big oil companies or big business liked 
Olson much. For that matter, they didn’t like Warren towards the end of 
his administration. 

About a month before he left, Governor Warren told me that he was 
sick of them. He said they interfered with almost everything that he was 
trying to do for the people. Warren was getting more liberal; he was chang-
ing before he left as governor. 

Morris: Do you think that being governor has that effect on a person? 

Gibson: I think most governors want to do a good job for the people. War-
ren gradually became more liberal during his administration, very much 
so in the last two years of his administration. Of course, he carried it on 
as chief justice. Eisenhower told me once that the biggest mistake he ever 
made was his appointment of Warren as chief justice, and I understand he 
told other people that same thing. I think Warren was a good governor. He 
made very good judicial appointments. He did a good job in administra-
tion. But I thought you wanted to talk to me about Goody Knight. 

Morris: We do, but since we don’t often get a chance to talk to somebody 
who’s worked with so many governors, we thought we would pick up on 
the earlier ones, too. 

Gibson: I worked very closely with Olson and with Warren. I never 
worked so closely with Knight, although I knew Knight very well. We nev-
er were very close after he became governor. 

Morris: Why would you think that is? 

Gibson: I don’t know why. 

CALIFOR NIA SUPREME COURT:  
APPOINTMENT AND FELLOW JUSTICES 

Morris: Would you say that you generally were considered liberal in 
your outlook on life and the tone of your decisions? 

Gibson: Oh, I think so, yes. I suppose so. I became an associate justice on 
the court in ’39. I became chief justice in ’40. Roger Traynor took my place 
as the associate justice. Three of us at that time were Olson’s appointments: 
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Carter, Traynor, and Gibson. Carter had been a state senator and was an 
exceptionally able lawyer, one of the best trial lawyers in the state. He had 
had no judicial experience. Neither had Traynor, nor I. When I went on 
the Court, Waste was chief justice. I succeeded him within a year, seven 
months I think I had been on the Court. Justice John Shenk was the senior 
associate justice. He was conservative but he thought he was a liberal. 

Morris: He thought he was a liberal? 

Gibson: In his own mind, and I expect he was at one time a liberal Re-
publican. [Jesse] Carter, who had been a superior court judge and on the 
court of appeals [sic], came from a very conservative area. He was a very 
fine looking man; he looked like a judge. [Fred] Houser was one of the 
ablest lawyers I think that ever sat on our court. Nobody gives him much 
credit, but he was an exceptionally able man. He suffered terribly from 
migraine headaches. It was a big handicap. I could sympathize with him 
because that was my first wife’s big problem. [Douglas] Edmonds was very 
ambitious, but very intelligent. Sometimes he went with Carter, Traynor, 
and Gibson in labor cases. It was a good court. Warren only had one ap-
pointment on the Supreme Court, Justice Homer Spence. Olson had four, 
let’s see, Gibson, Traynor, Carter, and Schauer. He had four appointments 
on the Supreme Court and he was governor for only four years. Warren 
was governor over eight years and only had one appointment and that was 
Spence. 

Morris: Schauer was appointed by Olson before he finished his term? 

Gibson: Yes. 

Morris: That’s interesting. Goodwin Knight had only one appointment, 
too, I believe: Marshall McComb. 

Gibson: Yes. Goody had promised that place to Tom White. Afterwards 
he gave the appointment to McComb. He called me — my wife had died 
and I had left Piedmont and was living in San Francisco when Knight 
called me. He said, “You’re a friend of Marshall McComb’s, aren’t you?” I 
said, “Yes, I’ve known Marshall since 1926 or ’27.”

He said, “I would like to appoint him justice of the Supreme Court.” 
And I said, “Well, Goody, you told me you promised it to Tom White.” He 
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said, “Well, Tom will wait.” Goody was very political, Mcomb, of course, as 
you know from recent publicity, is very rich. 

Morris: I knew there was a debate about who was going to control his 
assets. I thought that probably meant they were sizable. 

Gibson: Well, Marshall McComb is a wealthy man. He and Schauer went 
on the superior court at the same time in Los Angeles. At the same time 
[1927] Spence was put on the superior court in Oakland, Alameda County, 
by Governor Young. At the same time he appointed a judge who after-
wards became quite famous, [Leon R.] Yankwich. 

Yankwich served on the United States District Court in Los Angeles. 
I knew all these people. We were all about of the same age and all, except 
Spence, all of us Los Angeles people. They were appointed by Governor 
Young; he was one of the best governors this state ever had. He never gets 
much credit, but he was a fine governor. 

Morris : He was from Berkeley, wasn’t he? 

Gibson: Yes. 

Morris: A high school teacher. He taught civics and government; I’ve 
always thought he sounded like a very interesting man. 

Gibson: He was a good governor, excellent. 

Morris: You think he was ahead of his time? 

Gibson: Yes, but he lacked the ability to communicate, to tell his story to 
people. But he did a fine job as governor. 

Morris: Young seems to have had some fairly advanced ideas on admin-
istration and efficiency and accounting. 

Gibson: He did, he did. Any man in the office of director of Finance who 
looks back over prior administrations can immediately see the fine job that 
was done when Young was governor. 

Morris: Was Fred Links already in that office when you were? 

Gibson: Is he still in there?

Morris: No, I’m sorry to say he died a couple years ago. But I talked to 
him a year or so before that.
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Gibson: He certainly helped me. I’m sorry to hear he has died. I hadn’t 
got a Christmas card from him for a couple of years and I wondered about 
Fred. He was a great help to me when I was director of Finance. He was my 
right-hand man. He was one of the ablest men who ever served in the civil 
service in this state, one of the most knowledgeable. We were very close, 
remained very close for a number of years. Then I sort of lost track of him. 
I wondered because I hadn’t heard from him. 

I asked Paul Peek about him not long ago, and he said, “I think he 
died.” He wasn’t very strong physically towards the end. 

Morris: He seemed to continue to enjoy life tremendously. In working 
with Governor Olson on setting up the budget, would you also have given 
him a hand finding other people to take appointments in the other depart-
ments? 

Gibson: No. I never had much to do with the governor’s selection of peo-
ple in the administration outside the judiciary. Olson conferred with me 
on almost all his judicial appointments. He didn’t always follow my sug-
gestions, but he always conferred with me. 

Morris: You said you were surprised that two people died on the Su-
preme Court so soon after Olson became governor? 

Gibson: Yes, that was unusual. 

Morris: When did you get an idea that Governor Olson was considering 
appointing you? 

Gibson: To the Court? 

Morris: To the Court, yes. 

Gibson: Well, I also ran the finances of the exposition on Treasure Island, 
representing the state. I was there on one occasion with Governor Olson 
and I rode back to San Francisco with him. In the car, he turned to me and 
said, “I’m going to put you on the Supreme Court.” 

Morris: And what was your reaction? 

Gibson: I was very much surprised. I knew there was a vacancy, of course. 
He had talked to me when he appointed Carter just a few months before, a 
short time six weeks before, following the death of another member of the 
Supreme Court. But this came as a complete surprise to me. A lot of people 
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think it was all set. It wasn’t at all. I told him just about ten days before that 
that I had to get back to my office in Los Angeles. He was looking around 
for somebody to succeed me as director of Finance. I had recommended 
George Killion. You know George. 

Morris: Yes, I do know George. 

Gibson: He didn’t appoint George first. He appointed him afterwards. 
George was not my immediate successor . . . a fellow from Pasadena whose 
name I’ve forgotten. 

Morris: There was a man named [John R.] Richards in there for a while.

Gibson: Yes, Richards, from Pasadena. I didn’t know Richards. I was sur-
prised that he was appointed. That was how Olson broke the news to me 
when he appointed me. 

Gibson: Then when Waste died, the Court was in Los Angeles holding a 
session. I can’t be certain about dates, but I think we got word of his death 
on Thursday while the Court was sitting in Los Angeles. Waste was, we 
knew, quite sick and did not attend the session in Los Angeles. He was in 
his home in Berkeley. We adjourned the session when he died. All of the 
judges immediately went back to San Francisco. The funeral, as I remem-
ber it, was set for Saturday. My wife was with me in Los Angeles. She wasn’t 
very well, so I stayed with her. 

We were living at the old Biltmore Hotel downtown in Los Angeles. 
On Friday the governor was in Petaluma. He had gone up there to make 
a speech. He called me at the hotel. I was paged by a little fellow who had 
worked at the old Biltmore for years. He found me at the bar. I was having 
a drink. He told me the governor wanted to speak to me. 

The governor said, “I’m going to appoint you chief justice.” He said, 
“There’s a crowd of newspapermen here and they are going to press me to 
tell them who the new chief justice will be.” He said, “I am going to an-
nounce it.” 

I said, “Oh, please don’t, Governor, not until after the funeral. The fu-
neral will be on Saturday.” He said, “All right.” 

Morris: Did he like to make a big splashy announcement? 

Gibson: No, he liked to get things behind him, make appointments quick. 

Morris: Get things done. 
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Gibson: No, he was not flashy. Olson was anything but flashy. Not nearly 
as flashy as Warren or Knight or Brown. Not at all as flashy. When I got 
on the Lark that night, Friday night, to come back to San Francisco for the 
funeral, which was to be held in Oakland, I was sitting in the club car of 
the old Lark. 

Morris: Yes, the only way to travel. 

Gibson: That was great in those days. They had a radio on in the corner 
of the car. A blast came over the radio, governor’s announcement that he’d 
appointed Gibson chief justice. An elderly-looking gentleman sitting in the 
corner of the car reading his newspaper wrinkled it up and threw it on the 
floor in absolute disgust. The fellow sitting next to me said — I didn’t know 
that he had recognized me; I didn’t recognize him — he said, “That fellow 
didn’t like it, did he? Mr. Chief Justice, I’m going to buy you a drink.” It was 
a little embarrassing. 

Morris: Had you ever thought about possibly becoming a judge? 

Gibson: Oh, yes, I’d thought about it. I don’t think that I would have been 
interested in becoming at that time a trial judge. I was doing very well in 
the law practice right at that time. 

Morris: And you liked the business law? 

Gibson: And I liked it, yes. I was doing very well. But almost any lawyer 
would like to be on the state Supreme Court. There are very few lawyers that 
wouldn’t like that. And to be chief justice is, of course, a very powerful posi-
tion; more powerful then than it is now; it was a very powerful position. 

JUDICIAL REFOR MS 

Gibson: The chief justice at that time appointed all the members of the 
Judicial Council. Now the chief justice appoints only the judicial members. 
I was partly responsible for that. I began to work to broaden the base of the 
Judicial Council to include members of the State Bar and members of the 
Legislature, because the Judicial Council should be the advocate of judicial 
reform. 

While I was chief justice we reorganized courts in the state, which 
is probably the most important reform in that field that had ever been 
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accomplished. We also created the Commission on Judicial Qualifications, 
which is now called the Commission on Judicial Performance. I made my 
first speech advocating that in Los Angeles. 

Then the same year or the next year I talked to the State Bar here in 
Monterey, the State Bar and the Conference of California Judges. The pro-
posal was well received by the State Bar, but not by some of the judges. 
We’d had some tragic situations in the state. Judges that were not doing 
their job, because of illness, incapacity, and some because of laziness. 

It proved to be a very important reform. People don’t know much 
about it. Until this McComb case, they didn’t know hardly anything about 
it. Most of its effect is never known by the public; a judge gets in trouble 
and he is notified of the complaint. 

Morris: Something’s done about it before there’s an issue? 

Gibson: Yes, before any action is taken. 

Morris: If there is a commission that’s looking into the qualifications of 
judges, what does that do to the governor’s role in making appointments? 

Gibson: Well, there isn’t any commission looking into the qualifications 
of superior or municipal judges before appointment. The Commission on 
Judicial Performance looks into the conduct of a judge, complaints that 
are made against judges. I’ll give you an example that occurred before this 
commission was created, just one of a hundred examples that I could tell 
you about. 

A very able young superior court judge in the northern part of the state 
was mixed up and he would go off on sprees and we wouldn’t know where 
he was for a couple of weeks. There was a murder committed in the county 
and he could not be found. I assigned a judge from an adjoining county to 
take over. (This was during the Warren administration, the last years, as I 
remember, of his administration.) I asked the judge to meet me in Sacra-
mento. We went in to see Governor Warren, and following the meeting he 
resigned. He died a few years after he resigned. 

We had many such situations where judges, by reason of illness, could 
not perform their duties. We got better retirement laws. Part of this hap-
pened in the Warren administration, some of it in the Knight adminis-
tration, and some of the best of it in Brown’s administration. That’s the 
thing that the Judicial Council should do, under the leadership of the chief 
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justice. I think the present chief justice, Rose Bird, is going to do an out-
standing job in that field because she has the administrative ability. 

LATER APPOINTMENTS TO THE SUPREME 
COURT 

Morris: In that case, there were people commenting about her qualifica-
tions before she was appointed. Is the commission just for the Supreme 
Court? 

Gibson: No. The commission also passes on all appointments by the gov-
ernor to the courts of appeal. The commission consists of the chief justice, 
the attorney general, and, if the appointment is to the Supreme Court, then 
the senior justice of the court of appeals [sic]. If the appointment is to the 
district court of appeals [sic], the third member is the senior justice from 
the district. In Bird’s case, it was the attorney general and the senior court 
of appeals justice, Parker Wood. I testified for her. 

Morris: I noticed that. What was it particularly about that appointment 
that made you decide to speak up? 

Gibson: Well, I thought she had the ability, a fine record in school, a fine 
record as the deputy in defending people charged with criminal offenses. 
She’d had a fine record and she is very intelligent. The fact that she’d had 
no judicial experience I didn’t think disqualified her. After all, I had had 
none when I went on the Court. Carter had none; Traynor, who I think one 
of the ablest men that ever sat on the Court, had none. 

Morris: That question is raised quite frequently. They said the same thing 
about Earl Warren when he was appointed to the U.S. Supreme Court. 

Gibson: This was also true of others, including Douglas and Frankfurter. 

Morris: Was there anything in your testimony for Bird . . . were you con-
cerned that there should be more women on the court? 

Gibson: No. I was testifying as to her qualifications. I had assigned Annette 
Adams to sit on the Supreme Court and later I assigned Mildred Lillie to sit 
on the Supreme Court. 
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Morris: Because you thought it was a good thing for more women to 
have judicial experience? 

Gibson: Well, no, because I thought they were qualified. They were judg-
es on the courts of appeal and we needed help on the Supreme Court. I 
thought they were well qualified to do the job. I didn’t want to discriminate 
against them because they were women. I think my wife is qualified to sit 
on any court in the state. 

Morris: Your present wife is an attorney? 

Gibson: And a damn smart one. 

Morris: Good. That’s very advanced thinking. 

Gibson: Oh, I don’t think so. I think my mother was smarter than my 
father and she’d never gone to college, never gone to high school. 

Morris: While raising all those children. 

Gibson: Yes, one family and part of another. 

Morris: How about your own appointment . . . did you feel there’d be a 
controversy over whether or not you should be appointed? 

Gibson: I never thought of it. I don’t think there was any opposition to 
my appointment. 

Morris: Aside from the guy at the other end of the club car? 

Gibson: [Laughter.] He didn’t like it. He may have thought that the ap-
pointment should have gone to Justice Shenk. I had recommended to the 
governor that he appoint Shenk chief justice. 

Morris: When you knew Mr. Waste was dying? 

Gibson: Well, we knew for two months that he’d never come back to the 
court. At that time the retirement laws were not nearly as good as they 
are today. Waste had heavy financial responsibilities and he’d been sick a 
long time. We knew that he wouldn’t last too long. Shenk was the senior 
member of the Court. He was able. He was popular among the lawyers and 
judges. He and the governor had attended the University of Michigan and 
they were good friends. I thought the governor would appoint Shenk chief 
justice. He may have thought Shenk was too old. 
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Morris: So he was thinking that people on the Court should stay there a 
long time when he appointed them? 

Gibson: Well, he hoped they would, I suppose. 

Morris: Do governors generally look for somebody who shares their phi-
losophies? 

Gibson: Yes, I think so. But they make some mistakes. 

Morris: That’s in the nature of human events, isn’t it? 

Gibson: I suppose. That’s what Eisenhower claims he did. He said the big-
gest mistake he ever made was to appoint Warren. 

Morris: Do governors in general consult with the present members of 
the Supreme Court when they’re considering an appointment? 

Gibson: Well, I don’t think that our present governor [Edmund G. (Jerry) 
Brown, Jr.] consulted with anybody on the Court except probably one 
member. He probably consulted with Justice [Mathew] Tobriner. The gov-
ernor was Tobriner’s research assistant. Tobriner is one of the ablest men 
ever to sit on a Court. I thought he should appoint Tobriner and, when he 
retired, appoint [Stanley] Mosk. 

Mosk has the experience. After all, he had four years in Governor Ol-
son’s office, served with distinction as a superior court judge, sitting fre-
quently by assignment on the court of appeals [sic], and was elected at-
torney general by the largest majority any man had ever received for that 
office. Mosk is doing an outstanding job on the Supreme Court. He was a 
natural. Mosk is a top administrator as well as a good lawyer. Tobriner, of 
course, has written some of the finest opinions on the Court. He was very 
close to young Brown, since the governor had worked for him as a research 
attorney. 

Morris: When he was just out of law school? 

Gibson: Yes. 

Morris: I had forgotten that. 

Gibson: So that’s what I expected. I didn’t know Rose Bird. I think she’s 
going to make a great chief justice. 
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Morris: Were you asked to go and speak for her at her confirmation 
hearings? 

Gibson: Yes. 

1958 ELECTION SPECULATIONS 

Morris: I’m interested in Mosk and the other people like Goodwin 
Knight who leave the bench to run for office. 

Gibson: Well, I don’t remember whether Knight ran for lieutenant gover-
nor while he was still a superior court judge. He may have finished his term 
as superior court judge when he ran for lieutenant governor. Mosk was still 
a judge when he ran for attorney general. But he took a leave of absence as 
I remember it. 

Morris: I understand that Mr. Knight liked being on the bench. Nor-
mally a judge is pretty sure of being confirmed for another term. 

Gibson: Knight was very ambitious politically, I think one of the most 
ambitious men I’ve ever known politically. There’s nothing wrong with 
that. But you know he wanted to run against Warren for the Republican 
nomination, for Warren’s third term. 

Morris: In 1950? 

Gibson: He tried to get support. 

Morris: By 1950 there was a fair amount of opposition building up to 
Governor Warren. 

Gibson: Yes, there was. 

Morris: But not enough to deny him the nomination? 

Gibson: Oh, no. Knight would have been elected governor easily if he 
had run for governor again. It is possible that Pat Brown wouldn’t have run 
against him. You know what happened then? 

Morris: That’s the 1958 race when Knight ran for the Senate and Know-
land ran for governor? 

Gibson: You know what happened. 

Morris: I always wondered why it happened. 
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Gibson: Oh, you live around Berkeley and Alameda County. You must 
know the picture. 

Morris: Well, one of the theories is that Mr. Knowland wanted to run for 
president eventually. 

Gibson: That’s not a theory; it’s fact. 

Morris: And why would it be easier to run for president as a governor 
than as a senator? 

Gibson: Well, he had been a senator, very successful. He felt if he could 
be governor of California he would have recognition as a chief executive 
of a large state and that would help him to get the Republican nomination 
for president. Many important Democrats didn’t think Brown should run 
against Knight for governor. 

Morris: Because Knight had such control? 

Gibson: Knight was popular. You might ask Pat. He is still around. 

Morris: We plan to ask him. But what we wanted to ask you was if he’d 
asked your advice on the merits of this campaign. 

Gibson: No. He was attorney general then. I was chief justice. It wouldn’t 
be likely that he’d ask me. I had breakfast with Knight, I think either the day 
after or two days after he’d gotten the word that he wouldn’t get the finan-
cial support to run for governor. Knight was brokenhearted. He didn’t want 
to run for the Senate. It was rumored that three newspapers, the Chroni-
cle, Los Angeles Times, and the Oakland Tribune, wanted Knowland. I had 
breakfast with Knight either the next morning or two mornings after they 
told him that they wouldn’t give him the finances. You know Ed Pauley? 

Morris: He’s on our list of people we hope to interview. 

Gibson: He could tell you the whole story if he would. 

Morris: Well, if he won’t tell us maybe he’ll write a memoir. 

Gibson: I doubt if you could get Ed to write anything. He might tell you. 
I haven’t talked to him for a long time. We’re old friends, but I don’t know 
whether Ed would talk. I haven’t seen him for several years. 

Morris: Yes, he was right in the middle of things at that point. Do you 
think Mr. Pauley would tell us about the 1958 election? 
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Gibson: He might; I think Pat Brown would tell you. Pat’s a pretty frank 
fellow, but he would not want to say anything that would hurt his son. 

Morris: That’s almost unique, isn’t it, to have a father and a son be in the 
same kind of a job at the political level? 

Gibson: Well, I think I’ve told you about everything I know to tell you. 

OBSERVATIONS ON PAT BROWN  
AND OTHER GOVER NOR S 

Morris: Let me take a quick look at my list. Yes, I have another question. 
Pat Brown feels that you were a great help to him in advice and example. 

Gibson: Pat’s always given me a hell of a lot more credit than I’m entitled to. 

Morris: Why? 

Gibson: I don’t know why. 

Morris: You don’t like being a mentor for the next generation and shar-
ing your advice and experience? 

Gibson: Oh, no. I wrote several opinions that he liked very much,2 but 
that was just the law as I saw it. Pat advised with me on judicial appoint-
ments, on most judicial appointments he made. He didn’t always agree 

2   [The following note appears in the original transcript.] In a phone conversation 
on 5 October 1977, Chief Justice Gibson recalled a few of the cases on which he wrote 
opinions that Pat Brown liked. 

One concerned Japanese-American land ownership, an uncomfortable issue dur-
ing and after World War II. At the time, ownership of land by aliens was prohibited un-
der the California Constitution. Gibson wrote the opinion saying that this position was 
unconstitutional. The United States Supreme Court declined to take the case on two 
occasions, and the state Constitution was later changed to comply with his decision. 
Several cases concerning discrimination against Japanese-American fishermen also 
came to the Gibson court. Traynor, Carter, and Gibson wrote the dissenting opinion 
that discrimination was being practiced against the fishermen; their minority opinion 
was supported by the U.S. Supreme Court. 

Asked about the Chessman case, one of the more controversial during the Pat 
Brown administration, Gibson commented that the state Supreme Court passed on it 
three times. He joined with the majority in holding Chessman guilty as charged. When 
the governor sought to commute Chessman’s sentence from execution to life imprison-
ment, Gibson was among the minority voting to uphold the governor. Citing a recent 
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with me. He didn’t always accept my recommendations, but he always 
asked me about the people he was appointing. I talked to him quite frankly 
and honestly. Of course, I’d worked with Pat when he was attorney general. 
I was chief justice when he was attorney general. We sat together on the 
Commission on Judicial Appointments. 

The chief justice has a lot to do with the work of an attorney general. 
Or I did. You see, this is one thing I think I said in my testimony for Rose 
Bird: our Constitution states specifically that the attorney general is the at-
torney for the people of California. He has all the civil and criminal cases 
on appeal and many of the civil cases in the trial courts. 

Say there is a case involving the people of California in a trial court 
and it is difficult to get an early hearing because the calendar is congested. 
It’s important to get that case finally decided so the government can func-
tion. When I was chief justice, I assigned judges to assist courts in which 
those cases were pending so they could be heard promptly. The chief jus-
tice can do that. He can assign judges from one court to another all over 
the state. One of the principal powers of the chief justice is the assignment 
of judges. He assigns them from the municipal court to the superior court 
or to some other municipal court. California is one of the few states in 
the country where the courts are in session the year round. The Supreme 
Court of California takes no extended leave like the Supreme Court of the 
United States. There are four men there all the time. And if they need help 
the chief justice, or acting chief justice, can assign judges to help them. 

I worked very closely with Pat Brown when he was attorney general 
and when he was governor in legislation affecting the courts and in judicial 

opinion by Justice Stanley Mosk, Gibson noted that under present law Chessman would 
not be guilty of a first degree crime and thus not subject to execution. 

The most important case he wrote, he feels, held that unions could not discrimi-
nate against black people. During World War II, shipbuilding companies needing more 
help recruited black people, but the AFL union in the case in question would not give 
these new workers full membership. The case received national publicity at the time and 
Justice Gibson’s opinion holding the union discriminatory was a first in the country. 
He indicated that the issues involved had similarities to those in the 1977 Bakke case 
concerning “reverse discrimination.” 

Other civil rights cases of interest were those from the University of California 
concerning faculty fired from their positions for non-signing of a loyalty oath required 
in 1949. Gibson wrote the opinions holding this oath unconstitutional. 
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appointments. So I know he says very complimentary things. His son 
called me not long ago and said, “My father says you were the strong man 
in his administration.”

And I said, “Well, your father had many strong men in his administra-
tion. He just likes me personally.” He has always said nice things about me. 
I know they come back to me; but I don’t know that I was any more impor-
tant in state government during his administration than I was during the 
administrations of Olson, Warren, and Knight, although I got along better 
with Olson, Warren, and Brown than I did with Knight. 

Morris: That’s interesting. Why do you suppose? 

Gibson: We were good, personal friends. But Knight didn’t consult with 
me as much as Olson and Warren and Brown. He opposed me several 
times in judicial reforms because he thought he was on the popular side. 
Knight was a very ambitious man politically. 

Morris: In terms of staying in office in California, or did he have any 
thought of going on? 

Gibson: Oh, he wanted to be president. You know that if you followed his 
career. 

Morris: No, I didn’t know that. 

Gibson: Oh, yes. 

Morris: He wanted to be president, too. 

Gibson: Yes. If he had been re-elected governor, he would have had a 
chance. They pushed him off to run for the Senate so Bill Knowland could 
run for governor, and then Knowland came out for the right-to-work law. 
That’s one of the things that defeated him. 

Morris: Did the right-to-work law ever go to your Court? 

Gibson: No, because it was not the law in this state. It is in a number of 
states. 

Morris: That’s interesting. The right-to-work bill was defeated and so 
was Knowland who was plugging it. 

Gibson: Sponsoring it, yes. 

Morris: How could you explain that? 
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Gibson: Of course, the unions fought it very strenuously, you know. 

Morris: To defeat both of them? 

Gibson: Oh, yes. They fought Knowland and they fought, of course, his 
advocacy of right-to-work. There may be a growing spirit in the country 
now in favor of right-to-work laws. I think part of it comes from the fact 
that unions have become somewhat unpopular because of strikes of public 
service employees: police, firemen, and teachers. 

Morris: Would the fact that there are large numbers of people out of 
work have an effect, too? If people really need a job, they aren’t so con-
cerned about whether or not there’s a union shop? 

Gibson: Oh, sure. Olson always said (and, of course, he’d done a lot for 
the unions) that unions would not support social legislation if it affected 
their union organization. For instance, when I was director of Finance we 
were building the Cow Palace in San Francisco. 

Morris: That was built by the state? 

Gibson: Yes. In part for agriculture exhibits. 

Morris: I have a dim recollection that the reason it’s called the Cow Pal-
ace is that it was built for agricultural stock shows and the like. 

Gibson: There were a lot of people out of work. I met with the union lead-
ers in the governor’s office, asking them to let us hire a lot of people out of 
work for ordinary labor to help us finish the Cow Palace. They said they 
would not work if we had non-union labor in there. 

Morris: The unions?

Gibson: The unions. We went ahead and did it anyhow, That was one of 
the things the unions had against Olson.

Morris: So he had his troubles with unions, too. 

Gibson: Oh, plenty. He was always fighting for social reforms. Sometimes 
the unions didn’t agree with him. The leadership at that time was very 
conservative. 

Morris: Of the unions? 

Gibson: Yes. And some opposed him in his election when he ran against 
Merriam. AFL didn’t oppose him, but the Teamsters did. 
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Morris: In ’38? 

Gibson: Yes. 

Morris: It’s curious about California politics. Why did it take twenty 
years between Democratic governors when registration has been heavily 
Democratic all the way through? 

Gibson: It took them more than half the century before Olson’s election. 
It was more than fifty years, wasn’t it? 

Morris: It was like 1879 or something like that. Was it the same Demo-
cratic party in the 1800s as it was in 1938?

Gibson: You mean were their philosophy and ideals the same? I don’t 
know. I never had much to do with partisan politics. I ran for prosecut-
ing attorney in my home county the year I was admitted to the bar, the 
year I graduated from college, on the Republican ticket in a Democratic 
county, and was elected. I had nothing whatever to do with politics after 
that — partisan politics or public office — until the governor asked me to 
become director of Finance. I took no part in any political activities in the 
Los Angeles area or in the state. I knew Governor Young pretty well. He 
was a friend of my brother, who was editor of the paper in Pasadena. I had 
a very high opinion of Young. I never knew Merriam very well. He offered 
me appointment to the bench and I turned it down. 

Morris: Why? 

Gibson: I had a very successful law business and I wasn’t interested in 
becoming a municipal court judge. 

Morris: With all the fascinating things going on in the motion picture 
industry, did you ever regret leaving all that to go on the state Supreme 
Court? 

Gibson: No. I was very pleased with my position on the Court and very 
proud of it and still am. 

Morris: Do you feel that the greatest successes were in the administra-
tive kinds of things that you’ve been talking about? 

Gibson: I don’t think they were more important than our opinions. But 
we did things that had never been done before, in any state in the country. 
This was the first state to establish a Commission on Judicial Qualifications, 
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which is now called the Commission on Judicial Performance. I think it is 
the single most important judicial reform that has occurred in the last fifty 
years. Some people said the reorganization of the courts in the state was 
the greatest reform that had taken place. Although it has received much 
more publicity and is more easy to visualize, I don’t think it was more 
important than the creation of the Commission on Judicial Qualifications. 

Morris: Thank you for sharing your experiences on the Court with us 
and for your insights into the governors you’ve worked with. 

Gibson: Brown probably accomplished more for the state than Warren or 
Knight. It must be remembered, however, that Warren was governor dur-
ing the trying years of the World War. Knight was a good governor but he 
was more politically ambitious.� ✯




